
 
The Establishment and Operation of School-Based Health Centers In Three Elementary 

Schools and One Middle School in New Castle County 

DSBHA RFP No. 23-001 
Responses to Questions from Potential Bidders (“Responses”) 

1. Single or Multiple Bids: 
a. Can we apply for one SBHC, or do we need to apply for all?  
b. If we are bidding for all 4 sites, do we need to submit 4 different applications or one 

application covering all 4 sites?  
Bidders may apply for one center, multiple centers, or all centers as they deem appropriate for their 
operations. Only one bid needs to be submitted that clearly states which sites will be served by the 
bidder. 
2. Budget, Funding, and Payments: 

a. Why does a budget need to be submitted with a flat fee award?  
The all-funds budget allows the bid review team to understand how the bidder plans to allocate 
and manage resources to fulfill the mission, vision, and operations required by the RFP.  

b. Can you provide more information about this requirement: “Prices quoted in the 
proposal must be firm and shall remain fixed and binding on the Applicant for 90 days 
from the deadline?”  

Notwithstanding that award(s) under this project (“Project”) shall be on a flat-fee basis, the 
Delaware School-Based Health Alliance (“DSBHA”) seeks specificity with respect to each 
bidder’s budget. Such specificity will allow DSBHA to negotiate agreements with successful 
bidder(s) that include accurate and binding assumptions regarding project costs. 

c. When will the funds be dispersed?  
DSBHA will negotiate a contract with the successful bidder for each site. The first payment will 
be authorized upon final execution of the contract. As set forth in Item #25 of the Detailed Scope 
of Work (RFP Attachment D), funds will be distributed quarterly. All disbursements for the Project 
shall be contingent upon DSBHA’s timely receipt from the County of allocated Project funds, as 
well as DSBHA’s timely receipt from the successful bidder of all applicable invoices and other 
documentation. Specific requirements not already set forth in the RFP (i.e., Item # 25 of Appendix 
D) will be set forth in the contract.  

3. Auditing and Reporting Obligations: 
a. In Appendix C, there is a section covering the “Reporting on Use of Funds” where the 

Treasury requires the County to provide regular reporting on use of funds. What is the 
reporting format for this data? What is the frequency of reporting? Is invoicing 
sufficient?  
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With regard to New Castle County’s (“County”) reporting obligations to the U.S. Department of 
Treasury governing the use of Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery (CSLFR) Funds, 
please see the Treasury Guidance and the Treasury Terms and Conditions, each as defined in 
Appendix C of the RFP. 
As a subrecipient of CSLFR Funds, DSBHA’s reporting and other obligations are set forth more 
fully in the Subaward Agreement by and between the County and DSBHA (“Agreement”), which 
was approved by New Castle County Council on May 9, 2023 (Resolution No. R23-084) and is 
attached hereto as Exhibit 1. In particular, potential bidders are encouraged to review Articles IV 
and V of the Agreement.  
Among other things, the Agreement provides that DSBHA will be required to “periodically” report 
the status of the Project and DSBHA’s use of CSFLR funds, and will be “required to tender to the 
County records addressing how the funding was used for eligible expenses.” DSBHA is also 
subject to auditing by the County’s subaward monitoring agent to ensure compliance with its 
recordkeeping and other obligations. 
All contract(s) between the DSBHA and successful bidder(s) will include language requiring the 
contractor to timely provide such documents and information as may be necessary for DSBHA to 
fulfill its obligations under the Agreement. Such documents will include invoices, submitted to 
DSBHA in accordance with Item #25 of Appendix D, and such other documents as may be 
necessary “to substantiate eligible expenses.” These may include, among other information, 
financial records, sales receipts, employee time records, contracts and purchase orders, statistical 
records, and other records pertinent to the Agreement. 

b. Does DSBHA conduct the quality assurance audit?  What will be the frequency of 
audits?  Will they be planned or unannounced? Will they have specific areas of focus?  

DSBHA expects the successful bidder to establish an internal quality assurance and quality 
improvement process consistent with best practice. DSHA will participate in the process as a 
technical assistance provider. This activity is not part of a formal audit process.  
The successful bidder should plan its own approach to quality assurance as detailed in the 
applicable Delaware laws and regulations for SBHCs. DSBHA will work with the bidder to 
provide technical assistance and include the bidder in the DSBHA Evaluation Collaborative. 
4. Staffing and Operations: 

a. Do we need a nutrition consultant or can that be through the APN?  
Service provision requirements, including with respect to nutrition consultation and education, 
may be found in Title 16, Section 4102 of the Del. Admin. Code, as well as in Appendix D of the 
RFP. For best practice recommendations, bidders are encouraged to review information on the 
national School Based Health Alliance website and the CDC website. 
https://www.sbh4all.org/ 

https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/index.htm 
https://www.cdc.gov/nutrition/index.html 

b. Can we share staff from other SBHCs?  
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The bidder should fully describe its staffing plan to meet all regulatory, statutory, and RFP 
requirements. Services of a clinical provider and a mental health provider are expected to be 
available each day of the week. Sharing with other sites is a decision of the bidder and should be 
described in the bid response.  

c. Page 29 of the RFP provides that the contact with DSBHA shall include a Program 
Manager, Training Consultant, administration and business support, and “DPH site 
inspection and certification.” However, pg. 37 (#2) of the RFP states that “the clinical 
partner (Contractor) is responsible for obtaining from DPH a determination that the 
facility is designated by the State of Delaware as a SBHC. Can you help us resolve the 
conflicting language or describe the difference between the two statements [on pp. 29 
and 37]? [Also], given our current SBHC contracts and performance, what is the scope 
of the roles listed?  

Appendix B (RFP pp. 25-35) is DSBHA’s proposal to New Castle County (the “Proposal”) for the 
use of federal Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery (CSLFR) Funds for the Project. The 
Proposal is included in the RFP only to provide background and context to potential bidders. It 
does not impose direct requirements upon the bidder. The role of the DSBHA is to manage the 
project as a subaward recipient from NCC.  
The Detailed Scope of Work is Appendix D to the RFP (pp. 37-42). Bidders are bound by the 
requirements of Appendix D (among other requirements), not Appendix B.  Item #2 of Appendix 
D provides that the successful bidder is responsible for meeting all requirements to be a certified 
center with DPH and to submit certification applications to DPH. For the avoidance of doubt, 
although DSBHA will provide oversight and assistance as appropriate, it is the successful bidder’s 
responsibility to meet the foregoing requirements.   
The roles described on page 30 of the Proposal (Appendix B) do not apply to the bidder. As set 
forth above, these roles were included in the Proposal as part of DSBHA’s request for CSFLR 
Funds to generally state the functions that would require administrative support.  

d. The Annual Funding on p. 37 of the Proposal includes staffing dollars for a Clinical 
Practitioner/Site Coordinator, a Mental Health Service Provider, a Nutrition Consultant, 
and an Administrative Assistant. Does our staffing model have to mirror this or can 
adjustments be made? Can the Nutrition Consultant be the APN, as they are trained to 
do this? Can the Administrative Assistant be a Medical Assistant/Patient Services 
Representative?  

The bidder should propose the staffing model that it thinks is the best operational model, and that 
otherwise comports with all applicable laws, regulations, and RFP requirements. In its response, 
the bidder should include each member of the recommended team within the allocation of 
$200,000 per year for each center. The administrative member of the team should be defined. All 
clinical providers must be well qualified, familiar with the care of children, and licensed to 
practice. Please see Appendix D of the RFP for specific requirements.  

e. How are we to obtain current staffing models in the school to ensure our model and the 
schools model can work in tandem?  

After the contract is awarded, the successful bidder is expected to develop coordination plans with 
the school administration the school district administration, and student support services staff of 
the school as part of the start-up phase of project implementation. The response to the RFP should 
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include a description of the planning and coordination that will take place with the school during 
project start-up. 

5. Data: 
a. Does the data have to go through the DISCO project?  

The DISCO DataHub is a component of the Evaluation Collaborative funded by the national 
School Based Health Alliance as sub-grant from the federal Administration for Children and 
Families. This project is voluntary and at this time the focus is on including all the high school 
Wellness Centers in the data hub. The DSBHA would like the successful bidders to participate in 
the evaluation collaborative to explore ways to expand performance measurement and quality 
improvement. Use of the data hub is not required.  

b. When does the data sharing agreement need to be executed? Is this reflective of 
participation with Apex or is it a separate agreement?  

The data sharing agreement will be executed with the successful bidder as part of the contracting 
process. The agreement is separate from participation with Apex and the data hub, which is 
optional.  
6. Letters of Support: 

a. To clarify, do we need to have Letters of Support in addition to the Business 
References required for Attachment 4?  

b. How many letters of support are required?  
c. Can we obtain a letter of support from a district we are currently working in, or is 

that a conflict? 
No letters of support are required. Generally, the information required to be submitted by bidders 
is described in Section IV of the RFP (pp. 6-7), among other sections and appendices.  As noted 
by one potential bidder, each bidder must submit business references in accordance with 
Attachment 4. Each District will have a representative on the Proposal Evaluation Team.  
7. District Buildout and Physical Facility: 

a. What does the $50,000 [District buildout] center renovations include? Desks, drywall 
installations? Are vaccine fridges and locking cabinets included in this? Do we take 
$50,000 out of the $200,000 allotted from the funding to cover start-up equipment and 
supplies? At a minimum, we require vaccine fridge, freezer, locking cabinets, office 
furniture, office supplies, exam tables, computers, printers for start-up items.  

b. In Section III(B)(3) of the RFP (Scope of Work), each bidder must provide an 
operational plan to include staffing, hours of operation, a schedule of services, and a 
description of how the physical location will meet operational needs. When the RFP 
comes out we cannot speak to the districts regarding additional information about the 
RFP. How are we to obtain what the current physical location plans is to write how it 
will meet the needs? Does the facility meet the DPH requirements?  

Regarding equipment and supplies, see item #24 of Appendix D. The bidder is responsible for 
equipment and supplies and should include these in the proposed budget.  
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As to operational plans, bidders are advised to be as specific as possible with regard to staffing, 
hours of operation, schedule of services, and any other information the bidder deems relevant. 
DSBHA makes no representations, and can provide no advice, regarding permissible or 
impermissible communications, but it is understood that no bidder has access to any “buildout” 
information with respect to any school. Bidders are therefore advised to construe the term 
“physical location” as the address of the school itself, and to discuss operational needs with regard 
to school demographics, population, and other relevant known factors—not based upon the 
physical buildout of the SBHC at the school(s). 



 

Exhibit 1 
 

Subaward Agreement 
By and Between New Castle County and the Delaware School-Based Health Alliance 

Dated on or About May 26, 2023 
 

[Please see attached.] 








































